
April 18, 2025 

Ms. Shannon Ames, Executive Director 
Low Impact Hydropower Institute 
329 Massachusetts Avenue, Suite 2 
Lexington, MA 02420 

Transmitted via e-mail to comments@lowimpacthydro.org 

Subject: Skeleton Project Comments 

Dear Ms. Ames: 

On behalf of its six chapters with over 1700 members, Maine Council of Trout Unlimited (“TU”) submits 
these follow-up comments to our original comments submitted on March 26, 2025 regarding the 
Brookfield White Pine Hydro (“Brookfield”) application for Low Impact Hydro Institute (LIHI) 
Certification for the Skelton Project distributed March 6, 2025.  

Attachment A1 is the letter Brookfield recently sent to those responsible for observations of juvenile 
American eels at the Hiram Project and posting the results to the Hiram Project FERC Docket (P-2530).2  
Contrary to Brookfield’s reports and study data submitted for that project’s relicensing in 2022, there 
are many more juvenile American eels attempting to pass upstream at Hiram. This should bear on the 
requirements and timing for upstream eel passage under the 2007 Settlement. 

One of the arguments TU makes in its Skelton LIHI Application Comments is that: 

“Brookfield has clearly failed to act to recognize and support hydropower projects that 
prioritize environmental, recreational, historical, and cultural resource protection in the Saco 
River Watershed - only to delay restoration and maximize the value of the resource as an asset 
in its energy portfolio. If the project is certified, LIHI will not have worked to achieve its goals 
but only to ‘greenwash’ the obviously and inherently destructive nature of current Saco River 
hydro operations by designating them as low impact.” 

The Brookfield letter demonstrates Brookfield’s intent and continuing efforts to delay fish passage 
throughout the Saco River watershed.  Furthermore, the Brookfield letter is contrary to Maine law 
regarding an important doctrine called “SLAPP” or Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation which 
has both case law and is codified in Maine’s Uniform Public Expression Protection Act (UPEPA). Maine 
adopted an anti-SLAPP statute in 1995 (14 M.R.S. § 556), but that statute was limited to the right to 
petition.  The revised law, 14 M.R.S. §§ 731-742, greatly expands the scope of the anti-SLAPP 

1 Brookfield letter dated March 31, 2025, no subject or RE. 
2 Saco Salmon Restoration Alliance letter dated March 11, 2025, Subject: Subject: Hiram Project (FERC No. 2530) – Juvenile 
American eel observations 
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protection in Maine, aiming to provide a clear framework for the efficient review and dismissal of 
SLAPPs. 

UPEPA broadly applies to a party’s “[e]xercise of the right of freedom of speech or of the press, the 
right to assemble petition or the right of association, guaranteed by the United States Constitution or 
by the Constitution of Maine, on a matter of public concern."3 14 MRSA Section 733(C). 

This doctrine and statute protect the public participating in matters of public concern from 
intimidation lawsuits or claims frequently brought on trespass or nuisance grounds. The Brookfield 
letter is threatening a trespass claim and enforcement for activities being conducted to determine 
Brookfield’s regulatory compliance. Brookfield has no legal basis to threaten trespass under such 
circumstances, and any retribution or harassment should be treated as unlawful. 

Brookfield’s letter serves to underline its active efforts to delay compliance with the spirit and 
provisions of the 2007 Settlement that is a major basis for its LIHI Certification Application for the 
Skelton Project. Please add withdrawal of the Brookfield letter with an apology to those addressed in 
Brookfield’s letter to the list of conditions that TU has requested as prerequisites for LIHI Certification 
for the Skelton Project: 

“Should LIHI grant certification based on the information that Brookfield has provided, then TU 
requests that LIHI provide a reasonable degree of scrutiny be applied to the projects on the 
lower Saco River by requiring quarterly reports on compliance with the above stated criteria, or 
until issues regarding fish passage at Cararact, Skelton and Bar Mills have been resolved by 
relicensing of the Cataract Project, achievement of reasonable fish passage goals at the Skelton 
Project, and removal of, or establishment of a zone of passage at, the Bar Mills Project.” 

TU appreciates the opportunity to comment further on this application. 

Respectfully, 

Stephen G. Heinz 
Maine TU Council FERC Coordinator 

Reply to: heinz@maine.rr.com 

Attachment – Brookfield Letter dated March 31, 2025 w/attachment 

Email copies to: attorney.general@maine.gov, Laura.Paye@maine.gov, Casey.Clark@maine.gov 

3 14 MRSA Section 733(C). 
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